IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * * *

NORMAN BELCHER,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed S.C. CASE NO. 7232 Mar 19 2018 02:20 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE OF DEATH EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT THE HONORABLE JUDGE ELISSA CADISH PRESIDING

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. Attorney at Law Nevada Bar No. 004349 520 South 4th Street, 2nd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 384-5563

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STEVE WOLFSON, ESQ. District Attorney Nevada Bar No. 001565 200 Lewis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 671-2500

i

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. <u>MR. BELCHER'S RECORDED STATEMENT TO DETECTIVES</u> <u>SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED BASED ON A VIOLATION</u> <u>OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE</u> <u>UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.</u>
- II. MR. BELCHER IS ENTITLED TO A NEW PENALTY PHASE BASED UPON THE PRESENTATION OF CLEARLY INAPPROPRIATE AND HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL TESTIMONY IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- III. <u>MR. BELCHER WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS WHEN THE</u> <u>DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO STRIKE THE STATE'S THEORY</u> <u>OF AIDING AND ABETTING.</u>
- IV. MR. BELCHER IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL CHARACTER EVIDENCE BEING ELICITED.
- V. <u>MR. BELCHER IS ENTITLED TO A REVERSAL OF HIS</u> <u>CONVICTIONS BASED UPON WITNESS VOUCHING.</u>
- VI. <u>THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MR.</u> <u>BELCHER OF THE ROBBERY OF NICHOLAS BRABHAM</u> (COUNT NUMBER TWO). MR. BELCHER IS ENTITLED TO A <u>NEW PENALTY PHASE BECAUSE OF THE INVALID</u> <u>AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE.</u>
- VII. MR. BELCHER WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL WHEN THE STATE INTRODUCED INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY IN VIOLATION OF THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE OF THE UNITES STATES CONSTITUTION.

- VIII. <u>MR. BELCHER WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL WHEN THE</u> <u>DISTRICT COURT PRECLUDED A FELONY CONVICTION OF</u> <u>RAVON HARRIS TO BE ADMITTED OVER THE DEFENSE</u> <u>REQUEST IN VIOLATION OF THE UNITED STATES</u> <u>CONSTITUTION.</u>
- IX. <u>MR. BELCHER IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL AS HE WAS</u> <u>DENIED HIS RIGHT TO CONFLICT FREE COUNSEL DURING</u> <u>THE PRELIMINARY HEARING.</u>
- X. MR. BELCHER IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON THE FAILURE TO PROPERLY PRESERVE POTENTIALLY EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- XI. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. BELCHER'S</u> <u>MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE SEIZED FROM HIS</u> <u>RESIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AND</u> <u>FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO UNITED STATES</u> <u>CONSTITUTION.</u>
- XII. <u>MR. BELCHER IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED UP ON</u> <u>THE DISTRICT COURT'S REFUSAL TO SUPPRESS AN</u> <u>IMPERMISSIBLE SUGGESTIVE PHOTOGRAPHIC</u> <u>IDENTIFICATION PROCEDURE.</u>
- XIII. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. BELCHER'S</u> <u>MOTION TO SUPPRESS UNNECESSARILY SUGGESTIVE</u> <u>IDENTIFICATION OF THE DEFENDANT BY OFFICER ANTHONY</u> <u>CAVARICCI IN VIOLATION OF THE UNITED STATES</u> <u>CONSTITUTION.</u>
- XIV. DURING THE TRIAL PHASE, THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NUMBERS 12, 29, 31 AND 55 IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

XV. <u>DURING THE PENALTY PHASE, THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED</u> <u>IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NUMBERS 5 AND 12 IN</u> <u>VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH</u> <u>AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.</u>

XVI. THE DEATH PENALTY IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

XVII. <u>MR. BELCHER IS ENTITLED TO A REVERSAL OF HIS</u> <u>CONVICTIONS BASED UPON CUMULATIVE ERROR.</u>

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction and sentence of death, pursuant to a jury verdict. The Judgment of Conviction was filed on February 6, 2017 (ROA Vol. 28 p. 6425-6427). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on February 6, 2017 (ROA Vol. 28 p. 6434).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(2) which states that the Nevada Supreme Court shall retain all direct appeals in death penalty cases. This case involves a direct appeal from a sentence of death.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 31, 2011, Mr. Norman Belcher was charged by way of Information as follows: Count 1 – Burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon; Count 2 – Robbery with use of a deadly weapon; Count 3 – Robbery with use of a deadly weapon; Count 4 – Murder with use of a deadly weapon; Count 5 – Attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon; Count 6 – Battery with use of a deadly weapon resulting in substantial bodily harm; and Count 7 – Third degree arson (ROA Vol. 1 p. 38-43). The Notice of Intent to seek the death penalty was filed on February 10, 2011 (ROA Vol. 1 p. 164). Mr. Belcher's trial began on November 28, 2016, in front of the Honorable Elissa Cadish (ROA Vol. 44 p. 10030). The trial concluded on December 14, 2016 and the jury began deliberations (ROA Vol. 44 p. 10053-10055). On that same day the jury returned with a verdict of guilty as to all counts (ROA Vol. 44 p. 10054). The penalty phase began and concluded on December 15, 2016 (ROA Vol. 27 p. 6029). That same day, the jury imposed a sentence of death (ROA Vol. 27 p. 6026).

The following aggravating circumstances were found by the jury: 1) The murder was committed by a person who, at any time before a penalty hearing is conducted for the murder, is or has been convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person of another - The defendant was adjudicated guilty of Voluntary Manslaughter in Case No. C219397; 2) The murder was committed while the person was engaged alone or with others, in the commission of or flight after committing any burglary and the person charged killed the person murdered or knew or had reason to know that life would be taken or lethal force used - the Defendant was found guilty of Count 1 Burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon; 3) The murder was committed while the person was engaged alone or with others, in the commission of or flight after committing any robbery and the person charged killed the person to know that life

would be taken or lethal force used - the Defendant was found guilty of Count 2 Robbery with use of a deadly weapon of Nicholas Brabham; 4) The murder was committed while the person was engaged alone or with others, in the commission of or flight after committing any robbery and the person charged killed the person murdered or knew or had reason to know that life would be taken or lethal force used - the Defendant was found guilty of Count 3 Robbery with use of a deadly weapon of Alexus Postorino; and 5) The murder was committed by a person who, at any time before a penalty hearing is conducted, is or has been convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person of another - The defendant was found guilty of Count 5 Attempt Murder with use of a deadly weapon of Nicholas Brabham (ROA Vol. 27 p. 6022-6023).

The following mitigating circumstance was found by the jury: 1) "He wants to die" (ROA Vol. 27 p. 6027).

Mr. Belcher's sentencing was held on February 6, 2017 (ROA Vol. 44 p. 10058-10059). Mr. Belcher was sentenced as follows: Count 1 – Maximum of 180 months and a minimum of 60 months; Count 2 – a maximum of 180 months and a minimum of 60 months, plus a consecutive term of a maximum of 180 months with a minimum of 60 months to run concurrent with Count 1; Count 3 – a maximum of 180 months, with a minimum of 60 months plus a consecutive 180

3

months and a minimum of 60 months to run concurrent with count 2; Count 4 – Death, to run concurrent with Count 3; Count 5 – a maximum of 240 months and a minimum of 96 months, plus a consecutive maximum of 240 months and a minimum of 96 months, consecutive to Count 5; Count 6 – a maximum of 180 months with a minimum of 60 months, to run concurrent with count 5; Count 7 – a maximum of 48 months and a minimum of 19 months to run concurrent with count 6 (ROA Vol. 44 p. 10058-10059). Mr. Belcher received 2,255 days credit for time served (ROA Vol. 44 p. 10059).

The Judgment of Conviction was filed on February 6, 2017 (ROA Vol. 28 p. 6425-6427). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on February 6, 2017 (ROA Vol. 28 p. 6434).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Nicholas Brabham had been friends with William "Billy" Postorino since 2008 (ROA Vol 20, P. 4536). The two became roommates in 2010, living at Bella Lorena Street, Clark County, Nevada (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4537). Billy's fifteen year old daughter, Alexus also lived at the residence (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4537) (Alexus is the deceased victim in the case). Nicholas claimed to have a close relationship with both Billy and Alexus (ROA Vol. 20, 4537-4538).

Nicholas and Billy were involved in the narcotics trade (ROA Vol. 20, P.

4538). Nicholas admitted to be addicted to methamphetamine and marijuana (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4538). In fact, Nicholas had been abusing methamphetamine on a daily basis for approximately eleven years (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4538-4539). In 2010, Nicholas entered into a year long drug court program (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4539-4540).

Nicholas and Billy would manufacture fraudulent prescriptions and have other individuals proceed to the pharmacy to collect the prescriptions so the pills could be illegally sold (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4540). Billy would manufacture the prescriptions on his computer (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4541). Nicholas testified that they worked closely with a group of people in this drug conspiracy (ROA Vol 20, P. 4542).

During the months of November and December, 2010, Billy and Nicholas were allegedly having "problems" with one of the alleged conspirators, "Bates" (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4543) (Bates was identified as Norman Beltcher) (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4543). Allegedly, the defendant had been concerned that he was unable to cash in or trade in the prescriptions for pills. Then, Nicholas and Billy supposedly told the defendant that he would no longer be able to turn in fraudulent prescriptions to obtain pills (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4544) This allegedly frustrated the defendant (ROA Vol. 20 p. 4544).

5

On December 1, 2010 Nicholas' and Billy's residence was burglarized

(ROA Vol. 20, P. 4545). Although Alexus had been sick that day, when Nicholas came home he noticed that money and drugs were missing (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4545). Apparently, Billy suspected that the defendant was involved in the burglary (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4046). At that point, Billy and Nicholas made a decision that the defendant would be cut out of the drug business (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4547).

Between December 1 and December 6, Nicholas believed that he had a face to face meeting with Mr. Belcher where he gave him \$450 (money which Billy gave to Nicholas to give to Mr. Belcher) (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4548).

In the evening of December 5, Nicholas was present in the house with his friend Ashley Riley and Alexus (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4549). Ashley Riley was one of the individuals who would take fraudulent prescriptions to the pharmacy (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4549). Nicholas wanted to be romantically involved with Ashley, but they were just friends (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4549). In fact, Ashley had a boyfriend name Ravon Harris, (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4550).

Nicholas claimed to be asleep in his room with Ashley when something "woke him up" (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4552). On that night, Alexus was sleeping in Billy's bedroom (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4551). Nicholas went to the bedroom door, and when he opened it, he claimed to see the defendant in front of him (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4553). Nicholas claimed that the defendant then shot him five or six times
causing Nicholas to go back in the bedroom and hide in the closet (ROA Vol. 20,
P. 4553). Ashley also hid in the closet and Nicholas stated, "I'm dying" (ROA
Vol. 20, P. 4554).

Then, Nicholas heard additional gun shots and Alexus scream (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4554). Nicholas claimed that right before the shooting, he noticed Mr. Belcher's blonde hair, pale complexion, and blue eyes (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4556). The last thing Nicholas remembers from that evening/early morning was the police arriving (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4561). Nicholas then remembered waking up in the hospital (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4562). Nicholas underwent surgeries and believed he was in a coma while in the hospital (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4567).¹

Nicholas provided a recorded statement to the police on January 12, 2011, and then testified at the preliminary hearing (from the hospital) on January 21, 2011 (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4570).

Nicholas claimed to have no memory of telling the police that two masked men had broken into the house when he initially spoke to them on December 6, 2010. (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4575).

¹ The defense stipulated that Nicholas had suffered substantial bodily harm (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4570).

Nicholas also admitted that when he was interviewed by Detective Hardy, he claimed he was outside of the home prior to the shooting and that no one else but Alexus was present in the home (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4578). Nicholas claimed that he was under a lot of medication in the hospital and that is why he provided that statement (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4578). In fact, Nicholas claimed that the first thing that he remembered prior to the shooting was being downstairs (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4579). Nicholas admitted that was wrong (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4580). When Nicholas spoke to the police, on December 12, he stated that he was coming up the stairs and noticed the defendant at the top of the stairs, which he now admits is false (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4580).

Nicholas also admitted, that he was wrong when he told the police that he viewed the defendant coming out of Alexus' room (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4583). Nicholas also admitted he was wrong when he told the police that Ashley was not present at the house (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4583). In fact, Nicholas told police that Ashley was waiting in a car (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4584).

In January, Nicholas told the police that he saw "two outlines" and did not see a gun (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4586). Nicholas also told police that he saw no damage to the front door (even though it had it been forcefully kicked in) (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4587).

8

Nicholas did not remember that Ravon Harris was present at his residence on the day of the initial burglary (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4592).

Between the time of the shooting and his initial recorded interview on January 12, Nicholas had numerous interactions with family members (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4594). At the preliminary hearing, Nicholas testified he was "pretty certain" that the defendant was the shooter (ROA Vol. 20, P. 4596). During the preliminary hearing, Nicholas affirmed that somebody else was present with the individual being identified as the defendant (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4604).

In 2010, Ashley Riley was addicted to methamphetamine (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4611). Ashley admitted that she was involved in the drug conspiracy with Nicholas and Billy (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4612). Ashley would take fraudulent prescriptions to the pharmacy to obtain pills (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4612-4613). During that time, Ashley was romantically involved with Ravon Harris. Ravon was a jealous and controlling individual, causing Ashley to park her vehicle away from Nicholas's home for her protection (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4614). Ravon was a dark skinned African American approximately 6 foot 3 inches tall and 200 pounds (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4615).

On December 5, Ashley noted that Alexus had been painting her room and therefore fell asleep in her father's room (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4618). Ashley was

looking at music on an Xbox and Nicholas was on his laptop (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4619). However, both began to fall asleep (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4619). Ashley was then awoken by a loud bang and glass breaking. Ashley woke up Nicholas (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4620).

Nicholas then left the room and Ashley heard gun shots and hid in the closet (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4620). Nicholas came back to the closet but was unable to state who had shot him (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4622). Then, Ashley heard more gun shots (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4623). Ashley then decided to jumped out of the second story window (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4624). Police arrived and located Ashley in the backyard (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4625-4626). In a police interview, Ashley admitted that she stated that she was unsure whether Nicholas recognized the person who had shot him (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4635-4636). However, Ashley claimed at trial that she had a difference of opinion and believed that Nicholas did recognize the person (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4635-4536).

Ashley admitted that she had drank alcohol and ingested both methamphetamine and marijuana with Nicholas that evening (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4642). While at the residence, Ravon called her on at least two occasions (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4643). Ashley ignored the phone calls which she realized would make Ravon angry based on his past behavior (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4663). Although Ashley offered her phone to the police, they never seized her phone (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4644). Police tested Ashley's hands for gunshot residue (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4644).

Ashley confirmed that Ravon had hit her in the past when she had lied about her whereabouts (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4650). Ashley also had admitted that Nicholas had moved her vehicle away from the house in case Ravon drove by and saw her vehicle (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4651).

On a prior occasion, Ravon had come to Billy and Nicholas' home to confront them about Ashley (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4651-4652). Ashley also confirmed that Ravon was with Nicholas on the day of the initial burglary (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4654). Ashley recalled grabbing Nicholas' phone from the bed before leaping from the window (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4660).

On December 6, Ashley initially told the police she believed there were two people in the house (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4660). Ashley based this opinion on the fact that she heard rummaging in the house in a separate area from where she believed the shooter was (ROA Vol. 21, P. 4661).

Ashley Riley testified that Ravon had a male friend who had access to a small white four door vehicle (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4664). Ashley also admitted that Ravon hit her on more than one occasion for associating with different men (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4667).

Claudia Ortiz lived at 9752 Villa Lorena and was a neighbor to Billy and Nicholas (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4677). In the early morning hours of December 6, 2010, Claudia was on her way home with her boyfriend, Jarod (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4677-4678). Claudia noticed an individual that caught her attention. She did not notice any facial features on the man (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4680). Claudia entered her house and shortly after heard gunshots (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4681). Claudia then noticed a bullet hole in her room door and in her east side window (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4683).²

In the early morning hours of December 6, 2010, Brenda Williams awoke to a noise of something being dragged on concrete (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4704-4705). Brenda looked out her window and noticed someone dragging something down the street (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4705). At that time, Brenda resided at 9713 Villa Lorena (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4706). Brenda noted that the individual appeared to be a male and was clothed from head to toe, wearing a hooded sweatshirt (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4707). Otherwise, she could provide no description (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4708). Brenda also noticed that the individual appeared rushed and was trying to place something into a vehicle (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4712-4713).

² It is difficult to ascertain from the transcript whether Claudia actually witnessed the individual or whether her boyfriend told her about this at a later time (ROA Vol. 21 p. 4685-4688).

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