IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NORMAN BELCHER,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Aug 17 2018 03:03 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 72325

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction and Sentence of Death Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. Attorney at Law Nevada Bar #004349 520 South Fourth Street, 2nd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 384-5563

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

In viewing the totality of the circumstances, there is overwhelming evidence that Officer Cavaricci's identification was sound. Much as the victims in <u>Jones</u>, he had face-to-face contact with Appellant for several minutes and he not only got a "good look" at Appellant, but also looked at Appellant's driver's license to match the picture on the license and the physical descriptors to Appellant, the driver. 22 AA 4981-82. Moreover, Officer Cavaricci, unlike the victims in <u>Jones</u>, was trained to observe and be aware of his surroundings and testified that his usual practice was to examine the driver and the driver's license to confirm the driver was the person on the license. 22 AA 4982.

Thus, in light of the totality of the circumstances, there were no overly suggestive tactics used by the detectives in obtaining Officer Cavaricci's identification of Appellant. Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its

discretion in denying Appellant's motion. Therefore, Appellant's claim should be denied.

XIV. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT COMMIT PLAIN ERROR REGARDING JURY INSTRUCTIONS

"District courts have broad discretion to settle jury instructions." Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. ____, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008). "We review that decision for an abuse of discretion or judicial error; however, we apply de novo review when determining "whether a particular instruction. . .comprises a correct statement of the law." Id. An abuse of discretion is "any unreasonable, unconscionable and arbitrary action taken without proper consideration of facts and law[.]" *Abuse of Discretion*, Black's Law Dictionary. There is no error if the court refuses to give an instruction when the law encompassed in the proposed instruction is substantially covered by other instructions given to the jury. Hooper, 95 Nev. at 926, 604 P.2d at 116; Ward v. State, 95 Nev. 431, 433, 596 P.2d 219, 220 (1979).

Failure to object to jury instructions precludes appellate review except in circumstances amounting to plain error. <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95. Here, Appellant challenges the guilt phase jury instruction nos. 12, 29, 31, and 55 for the first time. Accordingly, this Court reviews for plain error.

A. Jury Instruction No. 12

Appellant challenges the reasonable doubt instruction, claiming it minimized the State's burden of proof. AOB at 73-74. Appellant did not object to this

instruction when given. Moreover, although citing to federal law, Appellant fails to note that the Nevada Supreme Court has repeatedly found this instruction permissible. See e.g., Lord v. State, 107 Nev. 28, 39, 806 P.2d 548, 554-55 (1991).

In fact, this instruction mirrors NRS 175.211, which states that:

- 1. A reasonable doubt is one based on reason. It is not mere possible doubt, but is such a doubt as would govern or control a person in the more weighty affairs of life. If the minds of the jurors, after the entire comparison and consideration of all the evidence, are in such a condition that they can say they feel an abiding conviction of the truth of the charge, there is not a reasonable doubt. Doubt to be reasonable must be actual, not mere possibility or speculation.
- 2. No other definition of reasonable doubt may be given by the court to juries in criminal actions in this state.

(emphasis added).

Accordingly, this instruction has been approved by both the Legislature and the Nevada Supreme Court, and as such, Appellant cannot show plain error. Therefore, his challenge to this instruction is without merit and should be denied.

B. Jury Instruction No. 29

Appellant challenges the implied malice instruction, claiming that this instruction is unconstitutionally vague despite this instruction mirroring the statute defining malice and despite this instruction having repeatedly been upheld by this Court. AOB at 69-69; 26 AA 5876.

Despite Appellant's reliance on <u>People v. Phillips</u>, 414 P.2d 353 (Cal. 1966), a fifty-year old California case, to challenge this instruction, the Nevada Supreme Court has held that:

[N]othing prevents district courts from instructing juries that malice 'may be implied when no considerable provocation appears, or when all the circumstances of the killing show an abandoned and malignant heart.' The legislature has not prohibited any definition of malice other than that set forth in NRS 200.020, as it has done in regard to defining reasonable doubt.

Cordova v. State, 116 Nev. 664, 666, 6 P.3d 481, 482-83 (2000) (emphasis added); see also, e.g., Leonard v. State (Leonard II), 117 Nev. 53, 78-79, 17 P.3d 397, 413 (2001) (determining that the statutory language defining implied malice is well established in Nevada and accurately informs the jury of the distinction between express and implied malice).

Moreover, NRS 200.020 sets out the definition as malice as follows:

- 1. Express malice is that deliberate intention unlawfully to take away the life of a fellow creature, which is manifested by external circumstances capable of proof.
- 2. Malice shall be implied when no considerable provocation appears, or when all the circumstances of the killing show an abandoned and malignant heart.

Appellant once more fails to note that the jury instruction mirrors this statute exactly.

As this instruction is a correct statement of Nevada law, as enacted by the Legislature and upheld by the Nevada Supreme Court, Appellant's claim should be denied.

C. Jury Instruction No. 31

Appellant challenges the premeditation and deliberation instruction, claiming that the instruction "created a reasonable likelihood that the jury would convict and sentence on a charge of first degree murder without any rational basis for distinguishing its verdict from one of second degree murder." AOB at 72.

The jury instruction reads:

Premeditation is a design, a determination to kill distinctly formed in the mind by the time of the killing. Premeditation need not be for a day, an hour, or even a minute. It may be as instantaneous as successive thoughts of the mind. For if the jury believes from the evidence that the act constitution the killing has been preceded by and has been the result of premeditation, no matter how rapidly the act follows the premeditation, it is premeditated.

26 AA 5878. This Court has specifically defined premeditation as this instruction does in <u>Byford</u>, 116 Nev. at 237, 994 P.2d at 714; <u>see also, e.g., Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1203 (2008).

As this Court has repeatedly upheld this definition of premeditation, Appellant cannot show plain error and his claim should be denied.

D. Jury Instruction No. 55

Appellant claims that the instruction on equal and exact justice "improperly minimized the State's burden of proof." AOB at 75. This claim is without merit. Again, this instruction has repeatedly been upheld by the Nevada Supreme Court. E.g., Leonard v. State (Leonard I), 114 Nev. 1196, 1208-09, 969 P.2d 288, 296-97

(1998) (upholding the equal-and-exact-justice instruction and stating that it does not concern the presumption of innocence or burden of proof); Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 46, 83 P.3d 818, 824 (2004) (finding defendant's claim that the equal and exact justice instruction violates presumption of innocence was meritless). As this Court has repeatedly upheld this instruction, and as Appellant received an instruction on the presumption of innocence (26 AA 5859) and on the State's burden of proof, Appellant's claim is without merit and should be denied.

XV. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR REGARDING INSTRUCTION NOS. 5 AND 12 DURING THE PENALTY PHASE

"District courts have broad discretion to settle jury instructions." <u>Cortinas</u>, 124 Nev. at ____, 195 P.3d at 319. "We review that decision for an abuse of discretion or judicial error; however, we apply de novo review when determining "whether a particular instruction. . .comprises a correct statement of the law." <u>Id</u>. An abuse of discretion is "any unreasonable, unconscionable and arbitrary action taken without proper consideration of facts and law[.]" *Abuse of Discretion*, <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u>. There is no error if the court refuses to give an instruction when the law encompassed in the proposed instruction is substantially covered by other instructions given to the jury. <u>Hooper</u>, 95 Nev. at 926, 604 P.2d at 116; <u>Ward</u>, 95 Nev. at 433, 596 P.2d at 220.

Failure to object to jury instructions precludes appellate review except in circumstances amounting to plain error. <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95.

Appellant claims the district court committed plain error in admitting penalty phase instruction nos. 5 and 12. AOB at 76-81.

A. <u>Instruction No. 5</u>

Appellant claims that the instruction concerning hearsay during the penalty phase "misstates the scope and role of mitigating evidence" (AOB at 76-77) and argues that "hearsay should not be admissible during the penalty phase of a capital trial" (AOB at 77-80).

NRS 175.552(3) reads in relevant part that:

During the [penalty] hearing, evidence may be presented concerning aggravating and mitigating circumstances relative to the offense, defendant or victim and on any other matter which the court deems relevant to the sentence, whether or not the evidence is ordinarily admissible. Evidence may be offered to refute hearsay matters. No evidence which was secured in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution of the State of Nevada may be introduced.

Hearsay evidence is also admissible in the penalty phases of capital trials. Thomas v. State, 114 Nev. 1127, 1147, 967 P.2d 1111, 1124 (1998), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 830, 120 S. Ct. 85 (1999). It is admitted as it relates to the character and record of the defendant, but the information presented may not be supported solely by impalpable or highly suspect evidence. Rogers v. State, 101 Nev. 457, 466, 705 P.2d 664, 671 (1985); Young v. State, 103 Nev. 233, 237, 737 P.2d 512, 515 (1987).

In <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004), the United States Supreme Court held that admission of testimonial hearsay at trial violates the Confrontation Clause unless the declarant is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. However, this ruling "does not alter the pre-<u>Crawford</u> law that the admission of hearsay testimony at sentencing does not violate confrontation rights." <u>United States v. Chau</u>, 426 F. 3d 1318, 1323 (11th Cir. 2005) (citing <u>United States v. Roche</u>, 415 F.3d 614, 618 (7th Cir. 2005), cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 126 S.Ct. 671 (2005)); <u>see also Gaxiola v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 638, 119 P.3d 1225 (2005).

This Court has held that <u>Crawford</u> has not been extended to capital penalty hearings. <u>Summers v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1326, 1333, 148 P.3d 778, 783 (2006) (no violation of Sixth Amendment in admitting testimonial hearsay regarding defendant's juvenile and adult criminal history during penalty phase of capital penalty hearing). The <u>Summers</u> Court also noted that "no federal circuit courts of appeals have extended Crawford to a capital penalty hearing and the weight of authority is that <u>Crawford</u> does not apply to a <u>noncapital</u> sentencing proceeding." <u>Id.</u> at 1332, 148 P.3d at 782. This has not changed since <u>Summers</u> was decided, and Appellant's citations to non-binding federal district court and state court cases fail to provide any support for his assertion that this Court should overrule <u>Summers</u>, Thomas, and Johnson (AOB at 80).

Here, Appellant not only fails to point to binding law to support his contention that this instruction was given in error, but also fails to identify how this instruction affected his substantial rights and constituted plain error.

Appellant also challenges the first sentence which reads "[i]n the penalty hearing, evidence may be presented concerning aggravating and mitigating circumstances relative to the offense, and any other evidence that bears on the Defendant's character." AOB at 76-77; 27 AA 6006. However, since Appellant did not object to this instruction this claim is reviewed for plain error affecting his substantial rights. NRS 178.602, Green, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95.

Jury instructions must be read together, not judged in isolation. See Greene v. State, 113 Nev., 157, 167-68, 931 P.2d 54, 61 (1997), receded from on other grounds by Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000); accord Cupp v. Naughten, 414 U.S. 141, 146-47, 94 S. Ct. 396 (1973). In addition to the challenged instruction, the jury was instructed in Jury Instruction No. 10 that:

Mitigating circumstances are those factors which, while they do not constitute a legal justification or excuse for the commission of the offense in question, may be considered, in the estimation of the jury, in fairness and mercy, as extenuating or reducing the degree of the Defendant's moral culpability.²²

136

The State recognizes that this Court, in <u>Watson v. State</u>, 130 Nev. ___, ___, 335 P.3d 157, 174 (2014), cautioned against this "moral culpability" language, but found that, taken in conjunction with the second paragraph, which was identical to that in Jury Instruction No. 10 in the instant case, the language did not provide support for Watson to demonstrate plain error in the giving of this instruction.

You must consider any aspect of the Defendant's character or record and any of the circumstances of the offense that the Defendant proffer[s] as a basis for a sentence less than death.

In balancing aggravating and mitigating circumstances, it is not the mere number of aggravating circumstances or mitigating circumstances that controls.

27 AA 6011. This instruction advised the jury that it had to consider Appellant's proffered mitigating circumstances, and acknowledged the breadth of circumstances that may be considered in mitigation.

Moreover, it is not reasonably likely that the jury thought that it could not consider what little mitigation evidence Appellant allowed to he presented. Appellant fails to show that this challenged instruction, by itself, so infected the entire penalty hearing as to the scope of mitigation evidence that the resulting death sentence violated due process.

Accordingly, Appellant fails to show that the giving of this instruction constituted plain error and, as such, his claim should be denied.

B. Instruction No. 12

Appellant challenges Instruction No. 12 claiming that "mitigation need not be directly connected to the offense." As discussed <u>supra</u>, jury instructions must be read together, not judged in isolation. <u>See Greene</u>, 113 Nev., 157, 167-68, 931 P.2d at 61 (subsequent history omitted). As detailed <u>supra</u>, the Court also gave Jury Instruction No. 10, which properly instructed the jury as to the role of mitigating

circumstances. Moreover, given the fact that Appellant adamantly refused to participate in or present any mitigation, Appellant fails to show that the giving of this instruction affected his substantial rights. Accordingly, Appellant fails to show plain error and his claim should be denied.

XVI. THE DEATH PENALTY IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL

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